#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## RECEIVED

07-21-2017

#### COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT IV** 

\_\_\_\_

Appeal No. 2017 AP 820 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff – Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER C. BOUCHETTE,

Defendant – Appellant.

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

## APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POST-CONVICTION MOTION

ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER PRESIDING

KAEHNE, COTTLE, PASQUALE & ASSOCIATES, S.C. Attorney Chadwick J. Kaehne State Bar No.: 1045611

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Was the arresting police officer acting in "fresh pursuit" when he pursued the outside of his own geographical jurisdiction to detain the Defendant-Appellant?

*The Circuit Court answered*: Yes.

Suggested Answer on Appeal: No.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. §752.31, this appeal is to be decided by one court of appeals judge and, therefore, is ineligible for publication per Wis. Stat. § 809.23 (1)(b)4.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order denying the Defendant-Appellant's, Christopher C. Bouchette ("Bouchette"), motion to suppress evidence, in Wood County Circuit Court, the Honorable Gregory J. Potter, presiding.

On March 9, 2016, Plaintiff-Respondent, the State of Wisconsin ("the State") filed a *Criminal Complaint* was filed in the Wood County Circuit Court charging Bouchette with: Count 1: Operating Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (2nd Offense), in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63 (1)(a) ("OWI"); and Count 2: Operating Motor Vehicle Under the Influence (2nd Offense), in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63 (1)(a) ("OWPAC"). (R. 3). Ultimately, Bouchette entered not guilty pleas to both counts (R.. 21:2).

On October 17, 2016, Mr. Bouchette was found guilty of Count 2 of the *Criminal Complaint*, to wit, Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (2nd Offense), contrary to Wis. Stat. 346.63 (1)(b). Count 1 of the *Criminal Complaint* was dismissed. (R. 23:2, 7; R. 11)

Before conviction, on or about May 31, 2016, Mr. Bouchette, by counsel, filed a *Motion to Suppress Evidence: Illegal Stop and Detention*. (R.8). A Motion Hearing was held July 14, 2016. (R.22). Ultimately, the circuit court denied Bouchette's motion to suppress orally and on the record. (R.22:30).

A *Judgment of Conviction* was entered in the Wood County Clerk's Office on October 20, 2016.

A Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction for Relief was filed on November 7, 2016 (R. 12) and, on January 30, 2017, a Motion for Post-Conviction was filed (R. 14). The clerk of court's office entered an order denying such post-conviction motion on April 12, 2017. (R. 17).

Bouchette timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 1, 2017 (R. 14). This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. Motion to Suppress Evidence

As stated, Bouchette filed a *Motion to Suppress Evidence* before conviction, on or about May 31, 2016. (R. 8). Said motion requested an for an "order excluding all evidence obtained in a violation of his constitutional rights, including but not limited to all evidence obtained as a result of the illegal stop and illegal detention..." (R. 8:1).

The motion alleged that a police officer of the Grand Rapids Police Department left his territorial jurisdiction and detained Bouchette in a neighboring county under the guise of alleged traffic code violations. (R. 8:2). The motion further alleged that when the police officer crossed into the neighboring county "he was not in fresh pursuit of [] Bouchette." (R. 8:3). It was therefore contended that the officer "lacked authority to stop and detain [Bouchette] for the alleged traffic violation observed in the Town of Grand Rapids." (R. 8:3).

#### B. Map and Layout of Area

As an initiatory matter, undersigned-counsel advises this Court that a significant component of the factual background to the issues in this appeal focuses on the layout of certain roadways located within both Wood County and Portage County. To assist this Court with quick and easy understanding of such layout, below is an imposed map snapshot from Google Maps of the area at issue:



This map snapshot is presented for demonstrative purposes to the assist the Court in understanding the factual background of this case. The Court may take judicial notice of the layout of the above roadways because it is a fact "not subject to reasonable dispute" in that it is "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." Wis. Stat. § 902.01.

As the Court will note, Washington Street runs in an east-west direction. 64th Street, 72nd, 80th and 90th streets, which are all parallel to each other, cross or intersect with Washington Street and run in north-south direction. As it will be addressed below, additional noteworthy points are:

Washington Street runs through the Town of Grand Rapids in Wood County and then east into Portage County;

- ➤ 64th and 72nd streets are located within the Town of Grand Rapids, Wood County;
- ➤ 80th Street (also named County Line Road) serves as a divider roadway between Wood and Portage counties; and
- > 90<sup>th</sup> Street, at and near Washington Street, is located with Portage Count.

#### C. Motion Hearing

On July 14, 2016, a Motion Hearing was held on Bouchette's *Motion to Suppress Evidence*. (R. 22:1). The State presented only a single witness and the defense presented none. The testimony presented at the motion hearing is as follows.

On January 28, 2016, during hours of darkness, Police Officer Jeremiah Anderson (Anderson) of the Grand Rapid Police Department was performing patrol duties during his work shift. (R. 22:3-4, 10).

While on duty, via the Wood County Communications Center, Anderson was advised that an anonymous source reported a motor vehicle driven eastbound on Washington Street, and heading towards the cross street of 48th Street, was "traveling at a higher rate of speed." (R. 22:5). At that time, Anderson was located at the intersection of 64th Street South and Kellner Road. (R. 22:5-6). Anderson estimated he was approximately 1.5 to 2 miles from Washington Street. (R. 22:6, 13-14). Anderson drove his squad car northbound on 64th Street towards Washington Street. (R. 22:6). Anderson stated he drove his squad at the set speed limit or a couple of miles per hour over. (R. 22:14).

As Anderson approached the intersection of Washington and 64th streets, he claimed to observe a motor vehicle, ultimately determined to be driven by Bouchette, traveling eastbound on Washington Street "at what I believed was at a higher rate of speed." (R. 22: 6). He estimated that

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Identification of Bouchette was stipulated to by the defense and received by the circuit court for the purpose the evidentiary motion hearing. (R. 22:4).

Bouchette's vehicle was traveling "approximately 10, 15 miles an hour over the speed limit of Washington Street," which is a forty-five MPH speed zone. (R. 22:6). Anderson explained that he was not immediately present at the intersection when Bouchette's vehicle passed through it, but rather was "couple hundred feet" away. (R. 22:7, 14). Anderson did not contend at any point in his testimony that he believed Bouchette's vehicle was speeding at any other time other than his observation at this intersection.

However, in later testimony, Anderson, admitted the following:

- That his observation was visual only, and he did not use any speed detecting device (R. 22:15, 21);
- ➤ That he was unable to apply any other common methods of speed estimation that he learned in training as a police officer, such as speed comparison to other vehicles, pacing with his own squad, and scaling. (R. 22: 16, 19);
- ➤ That That the intersection Washington and 64th streets contains foliage and trees on all four (4) corners of the intersection (R. 22:15);
- ➤ That based on the distance in which he made the observation of Bouchette's vehicle drive through the intersection, he agreed that it would was "rather short as far as timing or seeing the vehicle." (R. 22: 15-16);
- That based on his training for visual clues for speeding detection, a reduced view would affect the accuracy in detecting speeding violations (R. 22:19).
- Figure 1.2. That he candidly agreed that his belief that Bouchette's vehicle may have been speeding was premised on a "gut feeling" and a "hunch," and that he did base that belief on any scientific principle. (R. 22:21).

Upon arrival at the intersection of Washington and 64th streets, Anderson stopped at the intersection "for maybe a couple of seconds, three, four, five seconds" and looked both left and right; when he look right he observed taillights on Bouchette's vehicle in the distance. (R. 22: 14-15). While at the intersection, Anderson claimed to observe the taillights of Bouchette's vehicle "in the westbound lane of Washington and it was still traveling eastbound," which suggested to the officer that Bouchette's vehicle "drifted out his direct lane of travel." (R. 22:7). When asked about the location of where this alleged cross-of-centerline violation occurred, Anderson originally stated he "believed [Mr. Bouchette] was at 72nd Street[.]" (R. 22:9) (which would be next cross street east of 64th Street on Washington Street; see map on page 3, supra). Anderson estimated that the distance between 64th Street to 72nd Street was approximately three-quarters of mile. (R. 22:15). Later in testimony, though, Anderson stated, that when he was at the intersection of Washington and 64th streets, it was "possible [Bouchette] could have been" further than a mile away from his squad. (R. 22:17, 22).

When this testimony is viewed in totality, it appears that Anderson contended that he was able to observe Mr. Bouchette commit a cross-of-centerline violation during hours of darkness, from a vantage point of anywhere from about three-quarters of a mile to about a mile.

Anderson turned his squad onto Washington Street and started to travel eastbound in an effort to catch up to Bouchette's vehicle. (R. 22:7-8, 15). The next cross street east of 72nd Street on Washington Street is 80th Street, which is also the county line between Wood and Portage counties (R. 22: 8-9) and where Anderson's jurisdiction ends. There is a stop sign at 80th Street to which driver's traveling on Washington Street must yield. (R. 22:8). Anderson initially claimed that he did not observe any illumination of brake lights at or near the Washington and 80th streets intersection from Bouchette's vehicle, which led him to believe that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It should be noted that Anderson, in testimony on this particular point, references "80th," and not 64th Street. However, it is clear from the context of the examination that the officer misspoke and likely intended to say 64th Street. See R. 22 at 14-15.

Bouchette did not stop or yield at for the stop sign. (R. 22:8-9).

However, in later testimony, Anderson, admitted the following:

- That Anderson's belief that Bouchette's vehicle did not stop or yield to the stop sign, essentially and quite simply, premised on the notion that Anderson did not observe any brake lights (R. 22:21);
- That the distance between 64th Street to 80th Street is approximately one (1) mile and that when Anderson was at the intersection of Washington and 64<sup>th</sup> streets, it was "possible [Bouchette] could have been" further than a mile away from his squad (R. 22:16-17, 22) (thus, it is a reasonable possibility that Bouchette would have already stopped at the stop sign and cleared it at the Washington St./80<sup>th</sup> St. intersection by the time Anderson made an observation of his vehicle from 64th Street);
- Anderson further admitted he could not say with certainty whether Bouchette failed to yield to the stop sign at 80th Street. (R. 22: 17-18, 21).

Still following Bouchette's vehicle, once Anderson arrived at the intersection of Washington and 80th streets, he stopped his squad at the stop sign, cleared the intersection and then drove through. (R. 22:10). When doing so, Anderson stated he activated his squad's emergency lights "right on the [county] line" as he traveled through the intersection; Bouchette was already been in Portage County at the time the lights were activated. (R. 22:10). Anderson continued eastbound on Washington Street into Portage County. (R. 22:10-11). Bouchette's vehicle was about a mile ahead of Anderson at this point. (R. 22:17).

Washington Street ends at 90th Street with a "T-intersection." (R. 22:11). At this T-intersection, Bouchette took a left turn onto 90th Street and was thus northbound. (R. 22:11). Following this turn, Anderson lost sight of Bouchette

for an approximate period of ten seconds. (R. 22:11). Anderson followed suit at the T-intersection and made a left turn onto 90th Street. (R. 22:11). Upon turning, Anderson was able to reinitiate visual observation of Bouchette's vehicle. (R. 22:11). While at the 90th Street T-intersection, Anderson activated his squad's siren. (R. 22:11-12).

Anderson continued to follow Bouchette's vehicle with activated lights and siren. *Id.* Ultimately, Bouchette's vehicle traveled into a ditch. (R. 22:12). Thereafter, it is undisputed by the parties that Anderson detained Bouchette and ultimately arrested him for the charges in this matter.

Anderson estimated that the entire pursuit lasted "approximately five minutes on a long end" (R. 22:12) and spanned over a distance of approximately 2.5 to 3 miles (R. 22:21).

During testimony, Anderson explained the reason he did not activate his squad emergency lights until he was at the intersection of Washington and 80th streets. (R. 22:8). He stated, based on his past training and experience and "what one of my FTO's had advised me," he did want activate his lights "too far back" and possibly of give the "suspect vehicle or the person you're trying to stop a head start[.]". (R22:8).

Anderson candidly acknowledged that based on the distance between his squad and Bouchette's vehicle, it was entirely possible Bouchette would not have observed or seen the squad's emergency lights. (R. 22:18-19).

The alleged incident in this matter was not captured by a police-squad vehicle camera (i.e., "dash cam"). (R. 22:13).

#### D. The Circuit Court's Ruling

The circuit court denied the motion to suppress evidence at the July 14, 2016 Motion Hearing. On the speeding issue, the circuit court found that "based upon his observations, [Anderson] felt the vehicle was speeding" which provided "a reasonable suspicion that a violation had occurred in his presence at that point in time." (R. 22:28). On the cross-of-centerline and failure to yield at stop sign issues,

the circuit court observed that Anderson observed lights from Bouchette's vehicle in the wrong lane of traffic and that Anderson did not observe any brake lights activate on Bouchette's vehicle at the intersection of Washington and 80th streets. (R. 22: 28-29).

In making these rulings, the circuit court completely ignored some of Anderson's contradictory testimony in its ruling. For example, aside from the basic improbability that the officer could make observations from three-quarters of a mile to a mile away with any reasonable degree of accuracy, the circuit court failed to address the following points contained within Anderson's testimony:

- Anderson's admission that he based his belief of speeding on a gut feeling and hunch (and not on his actual police training or some scientific method);
- Anderson's admission that the cross-of-centerline violation, if any, possibly could have occurred as much as a mile or so away from the Washington Street/64<sup>th</sup> Street intersection which would place any such violation outside of Wood County (as Anderson testified that distance between the intersection and the county line was about one (1) mile); and
- ➤ Similarly, Anderson's admission that the failure to yield to stop sign violation possibly could have occurred as much as a mile or so away from the Washington Street/64th Street intersection (which would place any such violation outside of Wood County), or his concession that it might not have occurred at all.

The circuit court ultimately concluded and ruled:

So we have three offenses that occurred within Wood County that the officer observed and had reasonable suspicion to make a stop.

(R. 22:29).

From this, the circuit court ruled that Anderson acted in fresh pursuit when he traveled from Grand Rapids, Wood County, into Portage County to ultimately conduct stop of Bouchette. (R. 22:29-30).

#### E. Post-Conviction Motion

On January 30, 2017, Bouchette filed a *Motion for Post-Conviction Relief* in the circuit court. In essence, Bouchette contended that the doctrine of "fresh pursuit,' among other elements, must be based on probable cause, and not a lesser standard such as reasonable suspicion," (R. 14:2) and that the circuit court applied the wrong standard of law in its ruling (R. 14:4). It was further contended that the police officer lacked probable cause to believe Bouchette committed a traffic code violation and, consequently, was not in fresh pursuit and lacked lawful authority to leave his territorial boundary to subject Mr. Bouchette to an extrajurisdictional detention. (R. 14:4).

The circuit court did not hold a hearing on the motion or otherwise issue a written decision within sixty (60) days. By operation of statute, it was considered denied. Wis. Stat. § 809.30 (2)(i). For this reason, the Wood County Clerk of Court's Office entered an order denying the post-conviction motion on April 12, 2017. (R. 17).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of whether a search or seizure is reasonable is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 8, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. "A question of constitutional fact is a mixed question of law and fact to which we apply a two-step standard of review. We review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard, and we review independently the application of those facts to constitutional principles." *Id*.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. APPLICABLE BURDEN OF PROOF.

In the face of a challenge to an unlawful traffic stop, the onus probandi rests entirely with the prosecution. See *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wis.2d 506, 519, 210 N.W.2d 873, 880 (1973)("Where a violation of the Fourth Amendment right against an unreasonable search and seizure is asserted, the burden of proof upon the motion to suppress is upon the state.").

Just as in the circuit court, this standard is important during the appellate review process. Based on such standard, any undeveloped or equivocal evidentiary issues should be resolved in favor of Bouchette.

# II. THE POLICE OFFICER WAS NOT ACTING IN FRESH PURSUIT WHEN HE LEFT HIS TERRITORIAL BOUNDARY AND DETAINED BOUCHETTE.

#### A. The Anonymous Tipster

At the outset, Bouchette will briefly address what actuated the chain of events that ultimately led to his detention and arrest by Anderson; that is, the anonymous complainant.

In terms of tipsters or informants, Wisconsin caselaw has seemingly carved-out two separate and distinct categories: non-anonymous versus anonymous. See *State v. Kolk*, 2006 WI App 261, ¶12, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 109–10, 726 N.W.2d 337, 342. On one hand, in the non-anonymous category, there exist two sub-categories: confidential informants and citizen informants. First, confidential informants, are persons "often with a criminal past him- or herself, who assists the police in identifying and catching criminals." *Id.* Second, a citizen informant is "someone who happens upon a crime or suspicious activity and reports it to police." *Id.* 

On the other hand, in the anonymous category, caselaw creates a distinction between both the confidential or citizen informer from that of the anonymous informer. *Kolk*, ¶12 (citing *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. 325, 329, 110 S.Ct. 2412, 110 L.Ed.2d 301 (1990)). An anonymous informer or tipster is "one whose identity is unknown even to the police and whose veracity must therefore be assessed by other means, particularly police corroboration." *Id*.

Additionally, there is variation "within the realm of informants who wish to remain anonymous depending upon whether the informant risked disclosing his or her identity to police." *State v. Miller*, 2012 WI 61, ¶33, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349. An informant "who reveals some self-identifying information is likely more reliable than an [entirely] anonymous informant because '[r]isking one's identification intimates that, more likely than not, the informant is a genuinely concerned citizen as opposed to a fallacious prankster." *Id.* (citing *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶35, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106). As observed in *Miller*:

The key to this analysis is the informant's knowledge or presumed knowledge that a consequence of disclosing his or her identity is accountability for providing a false tip. Stated differently, police may infer that an informant who risks disclosing his or her identity is more likely to be providing truthful information because the informant knows that police can hold him or her accountable for providing false information.

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