RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-21-2017

COURT OF APPEACLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

APPEAL NO. 2017AP820 CR CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2016CT126

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER C. BOUCHETTE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JULY 14, 2016, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER, PRESIDING, DENYING DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S SUPPRESSION MOTION

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Submitted by:

Leigh M. Neville-Neil Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin State Bar No. 1081292

ARGUMENT

OFFICER ANDERSON WAS IN FRESH PURSUIT OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BOUCHETTE WHEN THE TRAFFIC STOP WAS CONDUCTED

The circuit court found that Officer Anderson was acting lawfully in fresh pursuit when he pursued the defendant-appellant. Because this ruling had a lawful basis and was not erroneous, the plaintiff-respondent requests that this order be affirmed.

Long ago, Wisconsin codified the doctrine of fresh pursuit making it lawful for an officer who observes any violation that that officer is authorized enforce of a civil ordinance, traffic, or criminal law violation to pursue such violator outside officer's jurisdictional boundary anywhere within the state and arrest any person for these violations, so long as the officer is acting in fresh pursuit. Wis. Stat. § 175.40(2). In Collar, this court adopted Colorado's definition of fresh pursuit, because our statute does not offer a definition. City of Brookfield v. Collar, 148 Wis. 2d 839, 842 (Wis. Ct. App., 1989). Quoting Charnes, this court held the three criteria in determining fresh pursuit are: "first, the officer must act without unnecessary delay; second, the pursuit must be continuous and uninterrupted, but there need not be continuous surveillance of the suspect; and third, the relationship in time between the commission of the offense, the commencement of the pursuit, and the apprehension of the suspect is important (the greater the length of time, the less likely it is that the circumstances under which the police act are sufficiently exigent to justify an extra jurisdictional arrest)". City of Brookfield at 643; Charnes v. Arnold, 198 Colo. 362, at 66 (1979).

Here, the Wood County Dispatch Center received an anonymous call around midnight on the Friday night of January 28,2016, that a vehicle was traveling at a high rate of speed eastbound on Washington Street near 48th Street in the Town of Grand Rapids, Wood County, Wisconsin. (R. 5:5-15). Officer Anderson was close by, and in a short time confirmed that he too had seen a vehicle meeting this description traveling at least 10-15 mph over the 45 mph posted speed limit eastbound on Washington Street, which was later determined to having been driven by the defendant-appellant. (R.6:2-25). Officer Anderson began to follow this vehicle, and then observed this vehicle to drift into the oncoming lane of traffic. (R.6:17-25). Due to the speed of the

vehicle, it took Officer Anderson a short time to catch up to the defendant-appellant and, as he was catching up, Officer Anderson did not see the defendant's brake lights illuminate at the stop sign on Washington Street near 80th Street. Officer Anderson testified that, despite the darkness, he saw the vehicle itself at that stop sign, and the vehicle did not stop as required. (R. 9:12-25; 10:1-7). All three of these traffic violations occurred in the Town of Grand Rapids, Wood County, Wisconsin, a jurisdiction Officer Anderson is authorized to enforce.

It is undisputed that Officer Anderson activated his emergency lights at the intersection of Washington Street and 80th Street, which is the Wood/Portage County line, shortly after observing the traffic violations in an attempt to stop the defendant-appellant. Officer Anderson maintained visual on the defendant-appellant's vehicle, which did not immediately pull over. (R. 10:19-25). Officer Anderson only momentarily lost sight of the defendant-appellant's vehicle just over the county line at a "T" intersection at 90th and Washington Streets. (R. 11:1-10). Because the defendant-appellant made no attempt to pull over, Officer Anderson

activated his siren, which was met with no heeding response from the defendant-appellant. (R. 12:2-5). Officer Anderson saw this vehicle again cross into the oncoming lane of traffic along 90th street, before it crashed into the ditch. (R. 12:5-10). The defendant-appellant was subsequently arrested for operating while intoxicated, second offense, with a staggering blood alcohol concentration of .264 g/100mL.

Applying the fresh pursuit Collar factors to the facts of this case; first, Officer Anderson must act without unnecessary delay: Officer Anderson observed three distinct traffic violations, all occurring in the Town of Grand Rapids, Wood County, Wisconsin. Because the defendant-appellant was speeding, it took Officer Anderson approximately five minutes to catch up to him, and make contact with him as he entered the ditch about a mile over the county line in Portage County. Because a distance of approximately 3/4 of a mile to one mile had elapsed between Officer Anderson and the defendantappellant's vehicle, Officer Anderson activated his lights at a time the Officer believed the defendantappellant would see them, and pull over accordingly. last traffic violation occurred at The the very

intersection Officer Anderson activated his near, right on the county line. There was little to no delay in this traffic stop. Much of the delay came from the defendant-appellant not properly pulling over upon seeing the emergency lights. Perhaps at a .267% BAC, the defendant-appellant was not able to pay as careful attention as required, and did not notice the bright red and blue lights. The defendant-appellant also did not pull over upon hearing the siren. There has been no information that the defendant-appellant lacks the ability to hear. One can only speculate that perhaps defendant-appellant was trying to evade enforcement's attempts to more quickly make contact with him, or perhaps his senses and reaction time to properly respond to law enforcement were impaired by alcohol. Much of the delay from the time Officer Anderson saw the very first traffic violation, to the time that the defendant-appellant crashed into ditch, was due to the defendant-appellant not pulling over. Officer Anderson is not required by law immediately pull a vehicle over upon seeing one traffic violation. Depending on the nature of the violation, an Officer may choose to wait to see if the driver will

exhibit any other violations. Officers do this for a variety of reasons, sometimes, if the officer sees only one minor infraction the officer may choose to let the person go. Or, perhaps, the Officer is investigating whether a motorist is evidencing signs of impairment. Either way, Officer Anderson had the lawful discretion to observe the defendant-appellant's vehicle, and this exactly what transpired. Officer Anderson, seeing what he described as a third violation, quickly pursued the defendant, closing the gap, and upon doing so, activated his emergency lights, while crossing over the Portage County Line. The total time that elapsed from the time that Officer Anderson first observed the defendant-appellant's vehicle, to the time the vehicle went into the ditch was no more than five minutes, where both Officer Anderson and the defendant-appellant traveled a total distance of approximately 2.5 miles.

Second, the pursuit must be continuous and uninterrupted and the officer need not maintain sight on the vehicle continuously. It is without dispute that Officer Anderson continued pursuing the defendant-appellant from the time that Officer Anderson saw the vehicle speeding until the time that the defendant-

appellant crashed into the ditch. The officer wasn't called away, and didn't make an unrelated traffic stop. He didn't drive out of the area. Officer Anderson traveled the same route that the defendant-appellant traveled while pursuing him, and upon seeing the third violation, as soon as the distance closed, activated emergency lights in his an attempt to pull the defendant-appellant over. Due to a T intersection, Officer Anderson lost sight of the vehicle for a brief moment, but then immediately regained a visual on the vehicle. This pursuit was properly continuous uninterrupted.

Lastly, the relationship in time between the commission of the offense, the commencement of the pursuit, and the apprehension of the suspect important. A total time of approximately five minutes elapsed between Officer Anderson seeing the traffic violation and the time the defendant-appellant went into the ditch, a distance of about 2.5 miles. Officer Anderson immediately began to pursue defendant-appellant after the first violation observed. Officer Anderson properly exercised discretion, and observed this vehicle for a short time before making the determination to pull it over. Officer Anderson put on his emergency lights at a time that the defendant-appellant was most likely to see the lights, but the defendant-appellant, for whatever reason, did not pull over. Instead, the defendant-appellant drove for a period of time, and crashed into the ditch. This factor weighs heavily in favor of a lawful fresh pursuit.

Officer Anderson was acting in fresh pursuit when observing traffic violations, immediately pursuing the defendant-appellant, and making contact with the defendant-appellant as soon as he was able. Therefore, the state asks that you affirm the circuit court ruling that this was a lawful traffic stop.

THE DOCTRINE OF FRESH PURSUIT DOES NOT REQUIRE THAT AN OFFICER HAVE PROBABLE CAUSE TO STOP MOTORISTS, AND EVEN IF IT DID, PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED

It has long been established throughout the United States, by the United States Constitution, the U.S. Supreme Court, and Wisconsin Law that a police officer may detain a person whom the officer reasonably believes has, is, or is about to commit a violation of the law, so long as that belief is supported by

reasonable suspicion. U.S. Const. Amend IV, Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 22 (1968); State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶10; Wis. Stat. § 968.24. Reasonable suspicion has been defined consistently time and time again by the courts as when, under the totality of the circumstances, an officer has specific and articulable facts, which taken together with rational inferences from those facts, give rise to the reasonable suspicion necessary for an investigative stop. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, (1968); State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. "'The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime.'" Id. at ¶13.

The Wisconsin Supreme court has held that reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated is sufficient to justify <u>all stops</u>. State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, ¶30, 364 Wis. 2d 234. Additionally, Wisconsin courts have gone on to conclude that if an officer acting in fresh pursuit has reasonable suspicion that a traffic violation has

occurred within the jurisdiction that that officer is authorized to enforce, and that officer conducts a traffic stop properly outside of his or her jurisdiction in fresh pursuit, if that officer develops reasonable suspicion during the traffic stop of another crime, for example, that the motorist may be impaired, the officer can reasonably extend the traffic stop to investigate the new suspected offense. State v. Haynes, 2001 WI App 266,¶9-10, 248 Wis. 2d 82, 732; State v. Bestow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 93 (Wis. Ct. App. 1999).

Wisconsin's fresh pursuit statute does not create a higher standard (probable cause) required for an officer to conduct a proper traffic stop; if that were the case, the result would be absurd. The statute authorizes an officer to cross the sometimes invisible county, or municipality lines to stop a suspect who the officer reasonably believed committed a law violation in that officer's territory, and to make an arrest if the situation calls for that. How would officers enforce traffic violations that occur right on the county line in situations where it would be physically impossible to stop the motorist before they cross the line, if the officer now must have probable cause to

arrest, rather than reasonable suspicion that a traffic violation had occurred. An officer has the authority under the statute to enforce any law the officer is authorized to enforce, and to cross municipality lines so long as the officer is acting in fresh pursuit. An officer has lawful authority to stop motorists to investigate whether there has been a law violation if the officer has the requisite reasonable suspicion.

The state finds it remarkable that the defense, during its entire motion hearing in this case, which was litigated by the defendant-appellant's appellate attorney (on July 14, 2016), argued the reasonable suspicion standard to Judge Potter, and argued that Officer Anderson lacked reasonable suspicion to pursue and stop the defendant-appellant, not that he lacked probable cause. Then, six and a half months later, on January 30, 2017, in its motion for post-conviction relief argues that the standard is probable cause under the fresh pursuit statute.

In this case, Officer Anderson observed three distinct traffic violations within his jurisdiction. The first, Officer Anderson, relying on his years of training and experience observed the defendant-

appellant speeding at least 10 mph over the posted 45 mph zone. Officer Anderson is trained in determining vehicle's speed, and observes traffic every day. It is obvious when a vehicle is exceeding the speed limit. Officer Anderson did not use his RADAR, nor is he required to. Instead, he based his conclusion that the vehicle was speeding on his training and experience. During the motion hearing, the defense asked Officer Anderson if he based this conclusion on mathematics or science, which as we all know, is not required. The officer replied that he just knew the vehicle was speeding. Judge Potter took judicial notice of Officer Anderson's training and experience, and found Officer Anderson's conclusion to be credible.

Officer Anderson did not stop the defendantappellant based solely on the vehicle's speed. Officer
Anderson pursued the vehicle, and observed the vehicle
travel dangerously into the oncoming lane. Though the
defense tried to cast some doubt on what the officer
observed by mentioning foliage, and obstacles that may
have been along the road, the testimony was
uncontroverted that Officer Anderson saw, with his own
eyes, the defendant-appellant cross into the oncoming

lane, in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 346.14(1). Despite Attorney Kaehne's colorful language on page 19 of the defendant-appellant's brief about the workings of the human eye, there was no defense expert, nor investigator that examined the roadways at night in this particular area that testified in this case which contradicted the officer's testimony. Officer Anderson clearly and unequivocally told the court that this violation occurred prior to the stop sign at 80th street on Washington Street. As we already know, 80th Street serves as the border between the counties. Because the defendant-appellant was traveling eastbound Portage County when he crossed the centerline, and this took place prior to the stop sign at the county line, this traffic violation had to have occurred in Wood County. Judge Potter found that Officer Anderson's testimony was credible and that the defendant-appellant did cross the centerline. Because Officer Anderson personally observed this violation, he reasonable suspicion and probable cause that the defendant-appellant committed this traffic violation.

Officer Anderson continued following the defendant-appellant's vehicle, and when this vehicle

came to the stop sign at 80th Street, Officer Anderson did not see the vehicle's brake lights illuminate, which would have occurred if the defendant did in fact stop for this stop sign. So, either the defendantappellant's vehicle did not have working brake lights, in violation of Wisconsin Statutes, or the defendantappellant did not stop at the stop sign. Officer Anderson testified that he saw the vehicle the entire time prior to the "T" intersection at 90th Street. Because there was no evidence that the vehicle had in fact stopped, but it did so during a time in which Officer Anderson lost sight of it, coupled with Officer Anderson testifying that he saw the vehicle approach 80th street near the stop sign, and proceed through the intersection with no brake lights illuminating, only one of two reasonable conclusions can be drawn: the lights weren't working, or the defendantbrake appellant did not stop.

These three traffic violations, coupled with the time of morning, approximately 12:07 a.m., primary drinking time on an early Saturday morning in Wisconsin, along with Officer Anderson's training and experience, under the totality of circumstances, gave

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